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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CHINYERE UZOUKWU,
Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo. 11¢v-00391 CRQ

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON
COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS, et al.,

Defendans.

MEM ORANDUM OPINION

On September 18, 2015, the Court granted in part and denied in part Diéséndzion
for summary judgmen this employmentliscriminationactionagainst the Metropolitan

Council of Governments (“COG”) and three of its executive@seUzoukwu v. Metro. Vésh.

COG, 2015 WL 5541578 (D.D.C. Sept. 18, 2018)em. Op. ECF No. 90) In that opinion, the
Court reviewed Defendantshallenges to the following countsiaintiff Chinyere Uzoukw's
Amended Complaint: hostile work environment based on ethnicitplation of 42 U.S.C.

§ 1981 by Calvin Smiththeformerdirector of the department in whitfzoukwuworked
(Count I); retaliation in violation of 42 U.S.C.1881 by Smith (Count Il); retalimn in violation
of 42 U.S.C. 81981 by Paul DesJardibzoukwu’s supervisorand Imelda Robert€0G’s
Director of Human Resourcé8ount VI); hostile work environment and disparate treatment
based on ethnicitin violation of 42 U.S.C. 8981 byCOG itelf (Count IX);andretaliation in

violation of 42 U.S.C. 8981by COG (Count X}.

YIn an Order dated January 22, 2014, ECF No. 61, Judge Wilkins, who previouslygoeside
this case, dismissed all of the other counts in the Amended Contpltimemained following
Uzoukwu’srevisionsto the original Complainttortious interference with economic advantage
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The Gurt found thatJzoukwuhad proffered sufficient evidence to presentdisparate
treatment claim against COG (part of Count & retaliation claim@Counts I, M, and X)to a
jury, but that she had not sufficiently made out a claim for leostirk environmenfthe other
part of Count IX) SeeMem. Op., ECF 90Defendants now movier clarification and
reconsideration ahat ruling. They seek clarification owhich claims survive against which
individual defendants, and they urge the Court to concludéJd@mikwuhas failed to make out
herdisparate treatmeigfaimand herretaliation claims again&€0OG andndividual Defendants
Smith and Robert$

The Court will grant in part and deny in part the motion for recensitbn. It concludes
thatUzoukwuhas presented sufficient evidence for tataliation claimagainst COG to survive
summary judgment, but that she has not made digparate treatmeanlaim against COG or
retaliation claimsagainst Smitlor Roberts in their individual capacities

l. Retaliation Claim Against Smith

Uzoukwualleges that she was terminated in retaliation for having complained of
discrimination. SeePl.’s Opp’n Defs.” Mot Clarification& Recons. 4 (noting that “each of the
remaining counts” in her Amended Complaint identified “termioali[iand “loss of

employment” as the discriminatory and retaliatory adverse action skeeesliffjuoting Am.

by Smith (Count Ill); tortious interference by DesJardin and Rslf@adunt VII); and negligent
retention and supervision by COG (Count XVI).

2 Defendants do not appear to challenge the Codetsal of summayr judgment as to

Uzoukwu’s redliation claim against DesJardmyondasserting thatbecause DesJardin had a
hand in hiring Uzoukwuhe “same actor” inference “requires [her] to present further evidence”
to defeat their motion for summary judgment. De¥tot. Clarification& Recons. 5.As

discussed belovgeenote 5,infra, the Court is not persuaded by that argumdiite Court will
therefore deny Defendants’ motion for reconsideration asgatdim, to the extent they so

move.



Compl., ECF No. 52 1 10236,158, 163). In their motion for reconsideration, Defendants
emphasizeéhat Smith was no longer employed at COG at the time of the ternmphé&aetired
in January 2008, andzoukwuwas terminated in March 2009.hey alsonotethat Uzoukwu
has notalleged that Smith participated in the termination decision.

While Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964the usual vehicle fdederal
employmemntdiscrimination claims, “does not impose individual liability on susery
employees,’Gary v. Long59 F.3d 1391, 1400 (D.C. Cir. 1995), the statute under which

Uzoukwubringsher claims, 42 U.S.C. § 198dan impose such liability “for personal

involvement in discriminatory activity” that violates that sectrgwn v. Children’s Nat'l

Med. Ctr, 773 F. Supp. 2d 125, 136 (D.D.C. 2011) (quoHadgi v. Amerada Hess Cor[¥23

F. Supp. 2d 506, 5387 (E.D.N.Y. 2010)).The D.C. Circuit has narticulated a test for
individual liability under § 1981, but the Court is persuaded by the Seventh Gifouihulation
and application of the standardSmith v. Bray 681 F.3d 888 (7th Cir. 201,23 case with a
number of factual parallels to this one

Smithinvolved a claim of retaliation in violation of 881 by a human resources
manager Because the plaintifirought a claim oindividual liability, the court concluded that
he had to show that the manager (1) “participated in the decisioa torh,” and (2) “was
motivated by a desire to retaliate against him for his complaints. aliscrimination.” Id. at
892. The Second Circuit has similarly emphasized tfggéersonal liability under section 1981

must be predicated on the actor’s personal involvemerttie claimed violationRatterson v.

Cnty. of Oneida, 375 F.3d 206, 229 (2d Cir. 2004) (qudtitadbee v. Garzarelli Food

Specialties, In¢.223 F.3d62, 75(2d Cir. 2000) (internal quotation mark omittedhat the

retaliationmust have beefintentional,” id. at 226; and that thermaust have beefsome



affirmative linkto causally connect the actor with the [retaliatory] actiah,at 229.

In Smith the Court held that the plaintiff failed to establish indieidiability because,
although he demonstrated that the human resources manager gtadiampthe decisioto
terminate his employment, he failed to show that she was persomdilyatad by retaliatory
animus. The human resources manager had received complaints of harassmehe fpteimtiff
without investigating thephadoccasionallyrefused to speakithk the plaintiff, hadmetwith the
deciding official in the leadip to the plaintiff's termination, and had prepared the plaintiff's
termination report.SeeSmith 681 F.3d at 893, 895, 900. Against those facts, the Court
determined that her participati in the termination decision waufficiently established, but
that, without more evidence that h@ef‘'sonal motives included retaliation,” the plaintiff had
failed to demonstrate retaliatory animud. at 901.

Here, the reverse circumstances compel the conclusiobzbakwuhas failed to
establish individual liability as to Smith. Whide alleges facthiat might support a finding of
retaliatory animus,shedoes not dispute that Smith left the organization before she was
terminated nor does shallege that he participated in the decision after leavitigder the
Seventh and Second Circuits’ formulatiotieen,Uzoukwuhas not sufficiently predicated
liability as to Smith on his “personal involvement” in the allegedkteask ation. Patterson375
F.3d at 229see als@mith 681 F.3d at 892Thereforethe Court will grant Defendants’ motion
for reconsideration as to this clagias it cannot survive summary judgment

. Retaliation Claim Against Roberts

Uzoukwus claim against Bberts COG’s human resources directfails for the same

3 Seesection lll,infra.



reasons adid the claimin Smith Uzoukwuhas demonstrated Roberts’s involvement in the
termination decision, but she has not established personal rejadiatous. She points to
deposition tetimony of David Robertson, COG’s Executivedaitor andhe deciding official
for Uzoukwds termination. Robertson testified thavorking with Mr. DesJardin and Imelda
Roberts,” he decided to elimindtzoukwus position. Pl’s Opp’n Mot. Summ. J., Ex. 15, at
31. In addition, he described having sought Roberts’s “perspective or memaaations,’id.,
and having solicited her input on the termination meichagt 33 As in Smith wherethe human
resources manager had consulted with the deciding official pribettetmination and helped to
prepare the termination documetttis evidence is sufficient to establish Roberts’s involvémen
in the termination process

But also like the plaintiff irEmith Uzoukwuhas nofput forward evidence sufficient to
demongrateretaliatory motivatioras toRoberts. Although the plaintiff i8mith showedthat he
had complainedf discriminatory treatment by his supervisord that the human resources
manager was aware of those complainéfailed to stow that those complaints motivated her
decision to recommend his termination. Ratheddmonstrated only that shadfailed to
investigate his complaineggainst the supervisor and other employees, that she had refused to
speak with him on occasipand that his terminatiocame soon aftenis complaints.See681
F.3d at 901. Without more, these facts were insufficient “to preseamuang issue of fact as to
whether [the manager’gprsonal motives included retaliation.1d. The @me is true here.
Uzoukwuhasallegedonly thatshe complained to Roberts of her low performance evaluation
and reduction of responsibilitieB).’s Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 6d. Ex. 4, at 8490 id. Ex. 9 that
Roberts was aware of her complaints made directly to Smith and Desgdasiih Ex. 11;that

Roberts took no action following her complaint abajatke she overheard a former employee



making that she “ha[d] the right name, but . . . the wrong ¢deeid. Ex. 4, at135-40;and
that Roberts did not handle another complaint about a fellow engpésyeffectively as she
could haveseeid. Ex. 4,at 182-84 Even if true, hese factsuggest no more than that Roberts
was aware of the difficultiesisroundingUzoukwus employment at COG and that at times, she
failedto act onUzoukwus complaints. They do not support a reasonable inference that Roberts
harbored a retaliatory biag.herefore Uzoukwuhas failed to make out a claim of retaliation
aganst Roberts, and the Court will grant Defendants’ motion fasneideration as to this claim.
[I1.  Retaliation Claim Against COG
Unlike her claims against Smith and Robetgpukwus retaliation claim against COG
is sufficiently supported to survive summary judgmesihe hasestifiedthat she made several
complaints of discriminatory treatmeseeid. Ex. 4, at 58, 8839, 9899, 109, 13840,* and
there is no dispute that she wasminated Sothe protected activity and adverse employment
actionelements otJzoukwu’s claimof retaliationare satisfied for purposes of summary

judgment SeeAyissi-Etoh v. Fannie Mger12 F.3d 572, 578 (D.C. Cir. 2013). At issue on this

motion forreconsideration ithe causation element; thatufhetherUzoukwuhas proffered
sufficient evidencé¢o establistithat she was terminated because of retaliatory animus resulting
from ha complaints of discrimination, rather than for tstensiblylegitimate reason proffered
by Defendants-that the economic downturn at the time forced itubstaft

As discussed in the Court’s previous opinion, the “cat’s paw” thedrglolity allows a

plaintiff to hold an employer liable without havihg show retaliatory animus on the part of the

4 AlthoughDefendantshallengeUzoukwus assertion that she complaingdout the joke she
overheardseeDefs.” Mot. Supp. Clarificatio® Recons. 1811, that isa question of fact
appropriate for resolution at trial rather than at the sumpjodgment stage.
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deciding official, so long as she can show that the decidingadfiias influenced either by

another official who harbored such animus or by an action by thaiabthat proximately

caused the terminatiorSeeUzoukwy 2015 WL 5541578at*10 (citing Staub v. Proctor Hosp.

562 U.S. 411, 419 (2011)Here,Uzoukwuhas presenteelvidence from which a reasonable

jury could conclude thddesJardin, exhibiting his own retaliatory animus and being inflence

by tha of Smith in turn influenced the termination decision by consulting wibhéd®tson, the

deciding official. Uzoukwuoffersthe followingfactsin support oDesJardin’s retaliatory

animus Smith’s influence on his viewandDesJardin’articipation inher termination

DesJardinalong with Smithreduced her work responsibilities, reassigning some
of them to white employees, after she complained of his treatmenbtbiean
African-American employee, Gary Givens, in May 2006. Pl.’s Opp’n Mot.
Summ. J. 34; id. Ex. 4, at68-69, 8Q 89-90

DesJardinalong with Smithassessed her performance &valevel in an
appraisal in August 20065eePl.’s Opp’n Mot. Summ. J-5, id. Ex. 4, at 8%
86; id. Ex. 5

After she complained that the it appraisal was discriminatoripesJardin

along with Smithchanged her appraisal rating to a higher score and insisted that
the lower rating had never been giveeePl.’s Opp’'n Mot. Summ. J7; id. EX.

1, at 26-21;id. Ex. 2, at25-26:id. Ex. 3, at 26id. Ex. 7;id. Ex. 8

In a memo tdJzoukwy DesJardincopying Smith and Robertsharacterized
Uzoukwu’'scomplaint that the appraisal was discriminatory as “disturbiry’'s

Opp’n Mot. Summ. J., Ex. 11, atddding that he found her “fiarn of making
judgments against COG management and staff to be troubling and unacceptable,
id. at 2.

In another memo to Uzoukwu, Smith, copying DesJardin and Robertssseqbre
his “total disagreement” with her email complaint that a low perfao@eating

he and DesJardin had given her was discriminatory, characterizing hdaicdmp
as “baseless and unwarranted,” lacking “collegiality,” “the mostisig
comment [he] ha[d] ever received in [his] 20 plus years of senior reanead,”
and having anore “far reaching implication than a performance evaluation” in
that “it seeks to undermine both the effectiveness of how [the depariment]
managed and the vision of the department moving forward.” PIl.’s Opp’n Mot.
Summ. J., Ex. 13, at-2.

In the samenemo on which DesJardin was copied, Smith recommended that



Uzoukwureceivecounselinghrough COG’s Employee Assistance Program
("EAP”) “at [her] earliest opportunity” due to her “lack of confidence,”
“unprofessional tone and baseless accusations toward manageideat.2.

e DesJardin took no actiofollowing Uzoukwus complaint about the joke she
overheard a coworker making about her having the “right name” but tle&agwr
color.” SeePl.’s Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 1. Ex. 4, at 13840,

¢ In a memo following up on an earlier mandatory referral afulavu toEAP
counselingDesJardinalong with Smithnotified Uzoukwu that she wasquired
to consent to disclosure of her diagnosis and treatment inforniatiwder to
fully cooperate with the referraSeeid. Ex. 2Q at 1

e DesJardin consulted with Robertson, the deciding officiadifey up to

Uzoukwuds termination, and aided Robertson in deciding to elimibatgukwus
position. Seeid. Ex. 15, at 3332.

A reasonablgury could concluddrom theg factsthatDesJardin and Smitdach
independently harbored rétdory animus towardzoukwy that, througttheir close
collaboration with respect tdzoukwus complaints and disciplinary actiori3gsJardin’s views
toward Uzoukwu were formed and influenced by Smithwho wasDesJardin’slirect
supervisoyrseeid. Ex. 2, at 12and that DesJardin, in turn, influenced Robertson’s decision to
terminateUzoukwuthrough his grticipation in that decisionBecause Smith was DesJardin’s
direct supervisor, a jury could conclude that Smith’s approach to Uzoulaped their
communications with her and thas a result, the memo that Smith authoredaamarhich
DesJardin was copiedin which Smithcriticized her for complaining about her performance
appraisalseeid. Ex. 13—influenced DesJardin’s perspective.

In addition, Uzoukwu offerfurther evidence of DesJardin’s retaliatory animus in the
form of anothermemo addressed to her from Smith. This meomowhich no one else was
copied,informedUzoukwuof her mandatory referral to the EAP. iinSmith explained that
Uzoukwu was required to attend counseling sessions for, among otb@ns,ganappropriate

emails,” which, a jury could conclude, referred to her emailed complaf discrimination.ld.



Ex. 17, at 1. Although DesJardin was not copied on this memo, hestestihis deposition that
he consulted with Smith and Roberts on the decision to issue thelr¢hatghe referral was
made on Roberts’s recommendation, and that he concurietheitlecision Seeid. Ex. 2, at
62. In addition, when asked if he had been involved in drafting émommotifying Uzoukwu of
the mandatory referral, DesJardin answered, “I may have beén,lgeat 64. This testimony
evinces not only an awarenadghe contents of Smith’s memo to Uzoukwu, but a hand in
formulating them.A reasonable jury could conclude from this evidence that DesJardin agreed
with the decision to refer Uzoukwu to counselingartbecause of her email complaints of
discrimination.®

A reasonable jury could also conclude tbabukwuhas presented sufficient evidence to
rebut Defendants’ assertion tf@&OG eliminated her position for legitimate reasst@nming
from itsdesire to reducgaffing levels dud¢o the economic domturn Defendants have
presentecvidence that COG facetonomicchallenges, that it terminatétzoukwuby way of
eliminating her position altogether, anatlit has not replaced hezoukwuresponds with
evidenceshowing thatdespite theipurportedneed to reduce ovaead, Defendants put fbmo

reductionin-force planfor the organization, and, although they reduced nine positions

5> Defendants also contend thdzoukwus retaliation claim is undermined by the fact that the
allegedly retaliatoractors—DesJardirand Smitk—were the same people who chose to hire her
in the first place.SeeDefs.” Mot. Supp. Clarificatio& Recons. 45. But Defendants
acknowledgehat this “same actor inference” “is just that, an inference” that “cammtinize”
against liability. 1d. at 5 (quotingCzekalski v. Petergt75 F.3d 360, 369 (D.C. Cir. 2007 In
Czekalskj the D.C. Circuit explained that, while the same actor inference “is prel@atidence
against a claim” that the hiring official “harbored a general animushagtiose of the
plaintiff's protected classification, it “cannot immunizéfom liability for subsequent
discrimination, nor is it alone sufficient to keep [a] casenfia jury.” 475 F.3d at 3689
(emphasis added). Hetdzoukwualleges discrimination and retaliation subsequent to her
hiring; she does not rely on a contentibat Smith and DesJardin harbored general animus
towardAfrican-Americans or people dier ethnicity.
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throughout the organization in 20Q8ey added a position tdzoukwus department as part of
the reorganizationSeePl.’s Opp’n Mot. Sinm. J., Ex. 15, at 47 (deposition testimony of
Robertenthat the statement thazoukwus department “went from 17 and a half ftithe
equivalent positions to 18 and a half ftithe equivalent positions” in the reorganization was
“correct”).. Weighing the competing evidencereasonable jury could conclude that
Defendants’ proffered reasons tbe termination were pretext fogtaliation Accordingly, the
Court will deny Defendants’ motion for reconsideration as to thisc

V. Digparate Treatment Claim Against COG

Although the cat’s paw theory of liability likewise applies ie thiscrimination context,

seeWalker v. Johnsgn798 F.3d 1085, 10996 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (applying the theory to

discrimination and retaliation claims arising from a terminatiasisiten), upon reconsideration,
the Court concludes thatizoukwu has not proffered sufficient evidence to supportisparate
treatment claim. A disparate treatment claim requires demongttatéinthe plaintiff'suffered
an adverse employment actierhere, termination- “because ofa protected statushere,her

ethnicity. Baloch v. Kempthornes50 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008h order to show that

an adverse employmeattion was taken “because of” a protected status, the plaintiff must
present evidence of discriminatory intent; “[p]roof of discrimamgitmotive is critical.” Davis v.

District of Columbia 949 F. Supp. 2d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2013) (quotkuderson v. Zubietal80

F.3d 329, 338 (D.C. Cir. 1999p5ee alsad. at ~8. Unlike with respect to thevidence offered

to supporther retaliation claima reasonable jury coultibt conclude frontheevidence

® Uzoukwucharacterizes thias an addition of two positions because COG began by eliminating
Uzoukwus position, and then it addetivo full-time positions” to her departmenteePl.’s
Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 3485.
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supportingthis claim thadiscriminatory animughformedthe termination decision such thiat
was madententionally“because ofUzoukwus ethnicity.

Uzoukwucontends that DesJardin and Smith reassigned her workload to white
coworkers, that they failed to act on her complaint about oadrgethe “right name, wrong
color” joke, and that Smith admonished that she lacked “white privilegethemeforehad to
“be careful because [she was] black,” and “understand [her] position bedaeisealq tack,”
Pl’s Opp’n Mot. Summ. J. 11 (quotind. Ex. 4, at 116) Given that Smith did not participate in
the termination decisiofiis comments hold significance onlyttee extent that the evidence
supportsan inferencehattheyinfluenced those involved in the decisiedesJardin and
Robertsor-or thatthey evinced COG’sgeneral atmosphere of discriminationSantiage

Ramos v. Centennial P.R. Wireless Cp#i.7 F.3d 46, 55 (1st Cir. 2000Because there is no

evidence in the record that either DesJardin or Robewasaware of Smith’s comments

concerning “white privilege,” these comments could be probative onheitatter sense.
While “statements made by ‘omého neither makes nor influences [a] challenged

personnel decision afgypically] not probative in an employment discrimination cdse, (first

alteration in original{quotingMedinaMufioz v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco €896 F.2d 5, 10 (1st

Cir. 1990)),“evidence of a company’s general atmosphere of discrimination ‘may baleced
along with any other evidence bearing on motive in deciding whether a . . . plaintiff has met her

burden of showing that the defendants’ reasons are pretadtgguotingSweeney v. Bd. of

Trustees604 F.2d 106, 113 (1st Cir. 1979And while “comments . . . concerning the
company’s treatment” of employees who share a plaintiff's protectssifadation “are not
proof of discrimination[,] . . . @y ‘add color to the decisiemaking process . . . and the reasons

given for” the personnel action at issull. at 56 (quotingSweeney604 F.2d at 113)Smith’s

11



comments concerning “white privilege,” then, may be considerpdodmtiveof COG’s
“genaal atmosphere,” but they are not, by themselves, sufficient shasulate Uzoukwu’s
disparate treatment claim.

The meaning underlying these comments is far from unambiguous. Esetine
suggested in its previous opinion, a jury could infer that “Sraghan AfricaPAmerican, might
well have intended simply to begin a frank conversation about thewpal that newhite
employees face in the workplaceJzoukwuy 2015 WL 5541578at*7. Or, a jury could infer
that Smith was articulating the view, frons nigh-ranking position within the organization, that
COG is generally inhospitable adrican-American employeesthat the organization is one in
which such employees have to “be careful” because of their race or ethBiaitgven taking
these comments the light most favorable to Uzoukwu, they “are not proof of discation,”
but rather may be considered only alongsiteéer evidence bearing on motive.” Santiage
Ramos 217 F.3d at 55. And hertine only other evidence ethnicitydiscrimination proffered
is that DesJardin and Smith reassigned sonézotikwu’sworkload to white employees and
that they failed to take action in responsée¢o complaint about a joke she found disparaging.
Without more, ths evidence is insufficient ®ubstantiate a claim that her termination was the
product of discriminatory intent on the part of DesJardin anc&eRsdn. The Court will
therefore granDefendants’ motion for reconsideration ashis claim.

V. Conclusion

Forthe foregoing reasonBefendantsMotion for Clarification and Reconsideration will
be granted in part and denied in part. An Order accompanies this Memor@pahion.

%‘w@//&wa Z. gﬂ/%‘

CHRISTOPHER R. COOPER
United States District Judge

Date: February 8, 2016

12



	I. Retaliation Claim Against Smith
	II. Retaliation Claim Against Roberts
	III. Retaliation Claim Against COG
	IV. Disparate Treatment Claim Against COG
	V. Conclusion

